# ZONING, PLATTING & ADVISORY COMMITTEE (ZPAC) May 7, 2024 – Approved Meeting Minutes

PBZ Chairman Seth Wormley called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m.

#### Present:

Matt Asselmeier – PBZ Department
Meagan Briganti – GIS Department
David Guritz – Forest Preserve (Arrived at 9:02 a.m.)
Brian Holdiman – PBZ Department
Fran Klaas – Highway Department
Commander Jason Langston – Sheriff's Department
Alyse Olson – Soil and Water Conservation District (Arrived at 9:02 a.m.)
Aaron Rybski – Health Department
Seth Wormley – PBZ Committee Chair

#### Absent:

Greg Chismark – WBK Engineering, LLC

#### Audience:

Tim O'Brien, Pete Fleming, Michael Korst, Jim Filotto, Ryan Solum, Bruce Miller, Alex Schuster, and Gloria Foxman

#### **AGENDA**

Mr. Klaas made a motion, seconded by Mr. Rybski, to approve the agenda as presented.

With a voice vote of seven (7) ayes, the motion carried.

#### **MINUTES**

Mr. Klaas made a motion, seconded by Commander Langston, to approve the April 2, 2024, meeting minutes.

With a voice vote of seven (7) ayes, the motion carried.

Mr. Guritz and Ms. Olson arrived at this time (9:02 a.m.)

#### **PETITIONS**

#### Petition 24-09 Tim O'Brien on Behalf of Seward Township

Mr. Asselmeier summarized the request.

On August 18, 2009, the County Board approved Ordinance 2009-31, granting a special use permit for a governmental building and facility at 14719 O'Brien Road.

The Petitioner is proposing to amend the site plan approved in Ordinance 2009-31 by a constructing an approximately eight thousand four hundred (8,400) square foot pole-type maintenance/storage building to the west of the existing Seward Township building and installing an asphalt driveway connecting the existing parking lot to the new building. For reference, the existing building is approximately nine thousand six hundred (9,600) square feet in size and is used for maintenance, storage, and offices.

Though not shown on the site plan approved in 2009, Seward Township received a permit and installed a sign on the property in 2010. The sign is shown on the proposed site plan.

No other changes to the site were proposed.

The application materials, proposed site plan, and Ordinance 2009-31 were provided.

The property was approximately five (5) acres in size.

The existing land use was Public/Institutional.

The future land use was Commercial.

O'Brien Road was a Township Road classified as a Local Road.

There were no trails planned in the area.

There are no floodplains or wetlands on the property.

The adjacent properties were used as Agricultural.

The adjacent properties were zoned A-1.

The Land Resource Management Plan calls for the area to be Commercial, Rural Estate Residential, and Rural Residential.

Properties within one half (1/2) of a mile were zoned A-1 and A-1 SU.

There is one (1) home located within one half (1/2) mile of the subject property.

The special use to the west is for a banquet facility and related uses.

EcoCat submitted on April 23, 2024.

A NRI application was submitted on April 30, 2024.

Seward Township was emailed information on April 30, 2024.

The Lisbon-Seward Fire Protection District was emailed information on April 30, 2024.

The proposed building will have to obtain applicable building permits.

As required in the special use permit from 2009, the subject property has fifteen (15) parking spaces, including one (1) handicapped parking space. Given that the proposed amendment will not increase public visitation at the property, the number of parking spaces should be adequate.

The Petitioner submitted an application for a stormwater permit.

In 2009, the Petitioner was granted a variance to the stormwater runoff storage facilities by Ordinance 2009-26, which was provided. An amendment to this variance, the installation of stormwater storage facilities, submittal of a fee-in-lieu payment, or some combination thereof will be required. A letter from WBK Engineering was provided.

The proposed Findings of Fact were as follows:

That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare. The expansion will improve the public health, safety, comfort, and general welfare because the new building will allow the township to do its work inside a new facility.

That the special use will not be substantially injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within the neighborhood. The Zoning classification of property within the general area of the property in question shall be considered in determining consistency with this standard. The proposed use shall make adequate provisions for appropriate buffers, landscaping, fencing, lighting, building materials, open space and other improvements necessary to insure that the proposed use does not adversely impact adjacent uses and is compatible with the surrounding area and/or the County as a whole. The existing use has been in place since 2009. The adjacent land uses are agricultural and the construction of a maintenance building will not injury the use and enjoyment of neighboring land owners.

That adequate utilities, access roads and points of ingress and egress, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being provided. This is true except for drainage. Drainage concerns can be addressed through a stormwater permit.

That the special use shall in all other respects conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the County Board pursuant to the recommendation of the Zoning Board of Appeals. This is true.

That the special use is consistent with the purpose and objectives of the Land Resource Management Plan and other adopted County or municipal plans and policies. Seward Township has used the subject property for public/institutional purposes since 2009. Accordingly, allowing the Township expand its facilities is consistent with a goal found on Page 9-20 of the Kendall County Land Resource Management Plan which calls for "mutually supportive, non-adversarial team of municipal, township, . . . county, and other governments working toward the benefit of everyone in Kendall County."

Staff recommended approval of the requested amendments to the existing special use permit for a governmental building and facility, pending resolution of Kendall County Stormwater Ordinance issues subject to the following conditions and restrictions:

- 1. The site plan attached as Group Exhibit A of Ordinance 2009-31 is hereby amended to include the submitted site plan.
- 2. None of buildings or structures allowed by this major amendment to an existing special use permit shall be considered agricultural structures and must secure applicable permits.
- 3. The remaining conditions and restrictions contained in Ordinance 2009-31 shall remain valid and effective.
- 4. The use allowed by this major amendment to an existing special use permit shall follow all applicable federal, state, and local laws.
- 5. Failure to comply with one or more of the above conditions or restrictions could result in the amendment or revocation of the special use permit.
- 6. If one or more of the above conditions or restrictions is declared invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining conditions shall remain valid.
- 7. These major amendments to an existing special use permit shall be treated as covenants running with the land and are binding on the successors, heirs, and assigns as to the same special uses conducted on the property.

Mr. Holdiman made a motion, seconded by Mr. Guritz, to recommend approval of the proposal.

The votes were follows:

Ayes (9): Asselmeier, Briganti, Guritz, Holdiman, Klaas, Langston, Olson, Rybski, and Wormley

Nays (0): None Abstain (0): None Absent (1): Chismark

The motion passed.

The proposal goes to the Kendall County Regional Planning Commission on May 22, 2024.

#### Petition 24-10 Alex M. Schuster

Mr. Asselmeier summarized the request.

The Petitioner was seeking a special use permit for a landscaping business, including allowing outdoor storage of materials.

The application materials, plat of survey, current conditions plat, proposed site plan, proposed landscaping plan and pictures of the property and vicinity were provided.

The address of the property was 2142 Wooley Road.

The property was approximately three (3) acres in size.

The current land use was Improve Residential/Farmstead.

The County's Future Land Use Map called for the property to be Rural Estate Residential. The Village of Oswego's Future Land Use Map called for the property to be Large Lot Residential.

Wooley Road was a Minor Collector maintained by Oswego Township.

The Village of Oswego has a trail planned along Wooley Road.

There were no floodplains or wetlands on the property.

The adjacent properties were used as Agricultural and Farmstead.

The adjacent properties were zoned A-1.

The County's Future Land Use Map called for the area to be Rural Estate Residential and Commercial. The Village of Oswego's Future Land Use Map called for the area to be Large Lot Residential.

Properties within one half (1/2) of a mile were zoned A-1 in the County and B-3 in the Village of Oswego.

Approximately three (3) houses are located within a half mile (0.5) miles of the subject property.

EcoCAT Report was submitted on March 14, 2024.

The NRI application was submitted on April 29, 2024.

Petition information was sent to Oswego Township on May 1, 2024. Prior to formal application submittal, Oswego Township submitted an email requesting a thirty-three foot (33') deep right-of-way dedication from the center of Wooley Road. This email was provided.

Petition information was sent to the Village of Oswego on May 1, 2024.

Petition information was sent to the Oswego Fire Protection District on May 1, 2024. The Oswego Fire Protection District submitted an email stating no objections to the proposal.

Per Section 7:01.D.32 of the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance, landscaping businesses can be special uses on A-1 zoned property subject to the following conditions:

- 1. All vehicles, equipment and materials associated with a landscaping business shall be stored entirely within an enclosed structure, unless otherwise permitted under the terms of this Special Use Permit.
- 2. The business shall be located on, and have direct access to, a State, County or Collector Highway as identified in the County's LRMP, having an all-weather surface, designed to accommodate loads of at least 73,280 lbs, unless otherwise approved in writing by the agency having jurisdiction over said Highway. Such approvals shall establish limitations as to the number of employees and types of vehicles coming to and from the site that are engaged in the operation of the use (including delivery vehicles). These restrictions shall be included as controlling conditions of the Special Use.
- 3. No landscape waste generated off the property can be burned on this site.

If the County Board approves the outdoor storage of materials and variances, the above conditions have been met.

As noted in the project narrative, the Petitioners would like to operate ASE Illini-Scapes at the subject property.

They would use the site for storage of landscaping materials, equipment, offices, and related operations. Employees would visit the site to get materials. The site would not be open to customers.

The business would be open from 6:00 a.m. until 6:00 p.m. Monday through Friday during the growing season and everyday for twenty-four hours (24) during snow events in the winter. The business has a maximum of fifteen (15) employees, during the busy season, and two (2) employees year-round. Employees either report to the subject property or report directly to job sites.

The site plan shows one (1) approximately one thousand three hundred seventy (1,370) square foot material bin area and one (1) approximately three thousand five hundred (3,500) square foot hard goods storage area near the eastern property line. One (1) approximately five hundred (500) square foot material storage bin was shown near the southern property line. One (1) additional approximately three thousand three hundred (3,300) square foot equipment and storage area is shown

south of the existing accessory buildings. The Petitioner indicated that the piles of materials would not exceed ten feet (10') in height.

Equipment would be stored outdoors, when the business is closed.

The Petitioner intends to grow nursery stock in the future.

The subject property presently has one (1) approximately three thousand three hundred (3,300) square foot house, constructed in 1875, one (1) frame garage, two (2) metal frame accessory buildings, and one (1) outhouse onsite that is used as decoration and gardening shed.

The site plan shows two (2) future greenhouses, one (1) approximately one thousand one hund (1,100) square feet in size and one (1) approximately one thousand fifty (1,050) square feet in size.

Any structures related to the landscaping business, other than the greenhouses, would be required to obtain applicable building permits. However, at this time, no additional structures, besides the greenhouses, are proposed.

The well is located southwest of the house. The septic area is located east of the house, between the proposed employee parking area and the southern most greenhouse. The property is served by electricity and natural gas.

One (1) dumpster area is proposed east of the western most equipment and storage area. Given its location on the property and proposed perimeter screening around the property, the Petitioner did not propose any screening specifically for the dumpster area.

The property drains towards Wooley Road.

The site plan shows a drainage system along the east and northeast side of the property.

The Petitioners submitted an application for a stormwater management permit.

Per the site plan, the property has a gravel driveway. The Petitioner plans to install a turnaround area at the south end of the driveway.

According to the site plan, the Petitioner proposes a gravel parking lot with ten (10) parking spaces located north of the turnaround area. One (1) ADA accessible parking space is required. The Petitioner intends to use a vehicular rated permeable paver to meet this requirement.

In addition, the Petitioner proposes an approximately one thousand seven hundred fifty square foot (1,750) truck and trailer parking area south of the turnaround area. This lot would also be gravel.

No lighting was planned for the property.

No signage was proposed.

The property presently has a fence along the perimeter as shown in several of the pictures and the landscaping plan.

The landscaping plan shows six (6) existing maple trees, two (2) existing willow thirty-two (32) existing spruce trees, two (2) existing birch trees two (2) existing oak trees, and several existing evergreen trees.

The Petitioner proposes to add twenty-six (26) purple coneflowers, three (3) six foot (6') service berries, trellised English ivy, and five (5) six (6') Nigra arborvitae.

The Petitioner plans to install landscaping within one (1) year of the approval of special use permit.

No information was provided regarding noise control.

No information was provided regarding odor control.

If approved, this would be the twenty-first (21st) special use permit for a landscaping business in unincorporated Kendall County.

The proposed Findings of Fact were as follows:

The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare. Numerous landscaping businesses have been approved throughout unincorporated Kendall County, including one (1) at 655 Wooley Road. The proposed use is along Wooley Road, which is classified as a minor collector. Reasonable restrictions can be placed in the special use permit to ensure the health, safety, and general welfare of the area are protected.

The special use will not be substantially injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within the neighborhood. The Zoning classification of property within the general area of the property in question shall be considered in determining consistency with this standard. The proposed use makes adequate provisions for appropriate buffers, landscaping, fencing, lighting, building materials, open space and other improvements necessary to insure that the proposed use does not adversely impact adjacent uses and is compatible with the surrounding area and/or the County as a whole. The subject property is in a large A-1 Agricultural District. The use will not impede farms or residential uses on the adjoining properties. Reasonable restrictions may be placed on the special use permit to address hours of operation, noise, landscaping, and site layout to prevent neighboring property owners are not negatively impacted by the proposed use.

Adequate utilities, access roads and points of ingress and egress, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being provided. The proposal states that customers will not come to the property. Given the limited number of employees reporting to the property, adequate utilities, access roads, and ingress/egress exists. A stormwater permit and conditions in the special use permit can address concerns related to drainage.

The special use shall in all other respects conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the County Board pursuant to the recommendation of the Zoning Board of Appeals. This is true.

The special use is consistent with the purpose and objectives of the Land Resource Management Plan and other adopted County or municipal plans and policies. The proposal is also consistent with a goal and objective found on page 6-34 of the Land Resource Management Plan, "A strong base of agriculture, commercial and industrial uses that provide a broad range of job opportunities, a healthy tax base, and improved quality of services to County residents." "Encourage opportunities for locally owned business." In addition, the future land use map calls for this property to be Mixed Use Business. Similar types of uses were planned for the subject property and properties in the vicinity of the subject property.

Staff recommended approval of the requested special use permit subject to the following conditions and restrictions. To date, the Petitioner has not agreed to these conditions and restrictions:

- 1. The site shall be developed substantially in accordance with the submitted site plan and landscaping plan.
- 2. Within ninety (90) days of the approval of the special use permit, the owners of the subject property shall dedicate a strip of land thirty-three feet (33') in depth along the northern property line to Oswego Township. The Kendall County Planning, Building and Zoning Committee may grant an extension to this deadline.
- 3. Equipment and vehicles related to the business allowed by the special use permit may be stored outdoors at the subject property when the business is closed.
- 4. None of the vehicles or equipment parked or stored on the subject property related to the business allowed by the special use permit shall be considered agricultural vehicles or agricultural equipment.
- 5. All of the vehicles and equipment stored on the subject property related to the business allowed by the special use permit shall be maintained in good condition with no deflated tires and shall be licensed if required by law.
- 6. The owners of the businesses allowed by this special use permit shall diligently monitor the property for leaks from equipment and vehicles parked and stored and items stored on the subject property and shall promptly clean up the site if leaks occur.
- 7. Except for the purposes of loading and unloading, all landscape related materials shall be stored at the designated storage areas shown on the submitted site plan. The maximum height of the piles of landscaping related material

shall be ten feet (10') in height.

- 8. A maximum of fifteen (15) employees of the business allowed by this special use permit, including the owners of the business allowed by this special use permit, may report to this site for work.
- 9. No customers of the business allowed by the special use permit shall be invited onto the subject property for matters related to the business allowed by the special use permit.
- 10. The hours of operation of the business allowed by this special use permit shall be Monday through Friday from 6:00 a.m. until 6:00 p.m. and the business shall be open twenty-four (24) hours to address snow events. The owners of the business allowed by this special use permit may reduce these hours of operation.
- 11. Any structures constructed, installed, or used related to the business allowed by this special use permit on the property shall not be considered for agricultural purposes and must secure applicable building permits. This restriction does not apply to greenhouses.
- 12. No signs are shown on the site plan. The owner of the business allowed by the special use permit may request a sign in the future using the minor amendment process, provided that the proposed sign meets the requirements of the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance.
- 13. Only lighting related to security may be installed outdoors at the subject property.
- 14. Damaged or dead plantings described on the landscaping plan shall be replaced on a timeframe approved by the Kendall County Planning, Building and Zoning Department.
- 15. The vegetation described in the landscaping plan shall be installed within one (1) year of the approval of the special use permit. The Kendall County Planning, Building and Zoning Committee may grant an extension to the deadline to install the vegetation. Materials and vegetation stored in the greenhouses and material storage area shall not be subject to this requirement and shall not be considered part of the landscaping plan.
- 16. No landscape waste generated off the property can be burned on the subject property.
- 17. The noise regulations are as follows:

Day Hours: No person shall cause or allow the emission of sound during daytime hours (7:00 A.M. to 10:00 P.M.) from any noise source to any receiving residential land which exceeds sixty-five (65) dBA when measured at any point within such receiving residential land, provided; however, that point of measurement shall be on the property line of the complainant.

Night Hours: No person shall cause or allow the emission of sound during nighttime hours (10:00 P.M. to 7:00 A.M.) from any noise source to any receiving residential land which exceeds fifty-five (55) dBA when measured at any point within such receiving residential land provided; however, that point of measurement shall be on the property line of the complainant.

EXEMPTION: Powered Equipment: Powered equipment, such as lawn mowers, small lawn and garden tools, riding tractors, and snow removal equipment which is necessary for the maintenance of property is exempted from the noise regulations between the hours of seven o'clock (7:00) A.M. and ten o'clock (10:00) P.M.

Only homes permitted prior to the date of the issuance of the special use permit shall have standing to file noise complaints.

- 18. At least one (1) functioning fire extinguisher and one (1) first aid kit shall be on the subject property. Applicable signage stating the location of the fire extinguisher and first aid kit shall be placed on the subject property.
- 19. The owners of the business allowed by this special use permit acknowledge and agree to follow Kendall County's Right to Farm Clause.
- 20. The property owner and operator of the business allowed by this special use permit shall follow all applicable Federal, State, and Local laws related to the operation of this type of business, including, but not limited to, installed the applicable number of ADA required parking spaces.

- 21. Failure to comply with one or more of the above conditions or restrictions could result in the amendment or revocation of the special use permit.
- 22. If one or more of the above conditions is declared invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining conditions shall remain valid.
- 23. This special use permit shall be treated as a covenant running with the land and is binding on the successors, heirs, and assigns as to the same special use conducted on the property.

Mr. Rybski questioned the location of the septic system. He noted that greenhouses or parking could not be in the area of septic system. He requested that the septic system be assessed in terms of location and size.

Mr. Klaas recommended that right-of-way dedication be raised to forty feet (40').

To date, no comments were received from neighbors.

Mr. Klaas made a motion, seconded by Mr. Rybski, to recommend approval of the proposal with the additional recommendation that the size and location of the septic system be examined and that the right-of-way dedication be increased to forty feet (40').

The votes were follows:

Ayes (9): Asselmeier, Briganti, Guritz, Holdiman, Klaas, Langston, Olson, Rybski, and Wormley

Nays (0): None Abstain (0): None Absent (1): Chismark

The motion passed.

The proposal goes to the Kendall County Regional Planning Commission on May 22, 2024.

#### Petition 24-11 James W. Filotto on Behalf of Oakland Avenue Storage, LLC

Mr. Asselmeier summarized the request.

The Petitioner would like a map amendment rezoning approximately eleven more or less (11 +/-) acres located on south side of Route 52 between 276 and 514 Route 52 on the south side of Route 52 from A-1 Agricultural District to B-3 Highway Business District in order to operate a contractor's office at the property.

The Petitioner has also submitted an application for a conditional use permit for construction services business at the property (see Petition 24-12).

If the requested map amendment and conditional use permit are approved, the Petitioner will submit an application for site plan approval.

The application materials and zoning plat were provided.

The property was located between 276 and 514 Route 52.

The property was approximately eleven (11) acres in size.

The existing land use was Agricultural.

The County's Future Land Use Map calls for the property to be Commercial. The Village of Shorewood's Plan calls for the property to be Mixed Use.

Route 52 is a State maintained Arterial Road.

There is a trail planned along Route 52.

There are no floodplains or wetlands on the property.

The adjacent properties were used for Agricultural, Single-Family Residential, and a landscaping business.

The adjacent properties were zoned A-1 and A-1 SU.

Properties within one half (1/2) of a mile were zoned A-1, A-1 SU, B-2, B-3 SU, B-4 and Will County Zoning.

The A-1 special use permits to east are for a landscaping business and fertilizer plant.

The A-1 special use permit to the west is for a landing strip.

The B-3 special use permit to the east is for indoor and outdoor storage.

The property to the north of the subject property is planned to be a school.

EcoCAT Report submitted and consultation was terminated.

The application for NRI was submitted on April 22, 2024.

Petition information was sent to Seward Township on April 30, 2024.

Petition information was sent to the Village of Shorewood on April 30, 2024.

Petition information was sent to the Minooka Fire Protection District on April 30, 2024.

The Petitioner would like to rezone the property to operate a construction services/contractor service at the subject property.

The site is currently farmed. Any future buildings would have to meet applicable building codes.

No utilities are onsite.

The property fronts Route 52. Access would have to be approved by IDOT.

Parking and driving aisles would be evaluated as part of the site plan review process.

Based on the proposed uses, no new odors are foreseen. The owners of the property would have to follow applicable odor control regulations based on potential other future B-3 allowable uses.

Lighting would need to be evaluated as part of site plan review.

Landscaping would need to be evaluated as part of site plan review.

Any signage would have to meet applicable regulations and secure permits.

The owners of the property would have to follow applicable noise control regulations based on future land uses. Noise control measures would need to be evaluated as part of site plan approval.

Stormwater control would be evaluated as part of site plan review.

The proposed Findings of Fact were as follows:

Existing uses of property within the general area of the property in question. The surrounding properties are used for agricultural purposes, single-family residential, and a landscaping business.

The Zoning classification of property within the general area of the property in question. The surrounding properties are zoned A-1 and A-1 with a special use permit for a landscaping business. Other properties in the vicinity possess business zoning classifications.

The suitability of the property in question for the uses permitted under the existing zoning classification. The Petitioners proposed use of the property, for the operation of a construction/contractor business, is not allowed in the A-1 Zoning District.

The trend of development, if any, in the general area of the property in question, including changes, if any, which may have taken place since the day the property in question was in its present zoning classification. The Zoning Board of Appeals shall not recommend the adoption of a proposed amendment unless it finds that the adoption of such an amendment is in the public interest and is not solely for the interest of the applicant. The Zoning Board of Appeals may recommend the adoption of an amendment changing the zoning classification of the property in question to any higher

classification than that requested by the applicant. For the purpose of this paragraph the R-1 District shall be considered the highest classification and the M-2 District shall be considered the lowest classification. The trend of development in the area is a mix of agricultural, commercial, and public/institutional. s

Consistency with the purpose and objectives of the Land Resource Management Plan and other adopted County or municipal plans and policies. The subject property is classified as Commercial on the Future Land Use Map and the B-3 Zoning District is consistent with this land classification.

Staff recommended approval of the proposed map amendment.

Mr. Rybski made a motion, seconded by Mr. Klaas, to recommend approval of map amendment.

Seward Township's proposed future land use map did not propose a re-classification for this property.

The votes were follows:

Ayes (9): Asselmeier, Briganti, Guritz, Holdiman, Klaas, Langston, Olson, Rybski, and Wormley

Nays (0): None Abstain (0): None Absent (1): Chismark

The motion passed.

The proposal goes to the Kendall County Regional Planning Commission on May 22, 2024.

# <u>Petition 24-13 James C. Marshall on Behalf of TurningPointEnergy, LLC Through TPE IL KE240 (Tenant) and Frank J. Santoro (Owner)</u>

Mr. Asselmeier summarized the request.

The Petitioner is seeking a special use permit for a commercial solar energy facility and a variance to Section 7:01.D.17.a of the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance to allow a commercial solar energy facility on land within one point five (1.5) miles of municipality without an annexation agreement.

The application materials were provided.

The property was located east of 2025 Simons Road.

The entire property was approximately seventy-three (73) acres in size. The fenced area was approximately thirty-eight (38) acres in size.

The existing land use is Agricultural.

The County's Future Land Use Map called for the property to be Rural Residential. The Village of Plainfield's Future Land Use Map called for the property to be Countryside Residential.

Simons Road is a Local Road maintained by Oswego Township.

The Village of Plainfield has a trail planned along Simons Road.

There are no floodplains on the property. There are two (2) farmed wetlands in the vicinity of the proposed use.

The adjacent land uses were Agricultural, Farmstead, Single-Family Residential, and Public/Institutional (Cemetery).

The County's Future Land Use Map called for the area to be Rural Residential and Suburban Residential. The Village of Plainfield's Future Land Use Map called for the area to be Low Density Residential, Medium Density Residential, and Countryside Residential.

Properties within one half (1/2) mile were zoned A-1, A-1 SU, R-1, and R-3 in the County and R-1 an R-1 PUD in the Village of Plainfield.

EcoCAT Report was submitted on September 27, 2023, and consultation was terminated, see Appendix F of the application.

The LESA Score for the property was 227 indicated a high level of protection. The NRI Report is included as Appendix E of the application.

Petition information was sent to Oswego Township on May 1, 2024. Prior to formal application submittal, Oswego Township submitted an email requesting a thirty-thirty foot (33') deep right-of-way dedication from the center of Simons Road and a road use agreement. The Petitioner already secured an access permit, see Appendix Y of the Application

Petition information was sent to the Village of Plainfield on May 1, 2024. Prior to formal application submittal, the Village of Plainfield submitted a letter stating they will pursue an annexation agreement after the County reviews the application, see Appendix X.

Petition information was sent to the Oswego Fire Protection District on May 1, 2024. The Oswego Fire Protection District submitted an email expressing no objections to the request.

Per Section 7:01.D.17 of the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance, commercial solar energy facilities businesses can be special uses on A-1 zoned property subject to the following conditions:

- a. All commercial solar energy facilities and test solar energy systems located within one point five (1.5) miles of a municipality shall either annex to the municipality or obtain an annexation agreement with the municipality requiring the municipality's regulations to flow through the property. Petitioner is requesting a variance. Pre-annexation likely within ninety (90) days of approval of the special use permit, see Appendix X of the Application.
- b. The setbacks for commercial solar energy facilities shall be measured from the nearest edge of any component of the facility as follows:

Occupied Community Buildings or Dwellings on Nonparticipating Properties-One hundred fifty feet (150') from the nearest point on the outside wall of the structure

Boundary Lines of Participating Properties-None

Boundary Lines of Nonparticipating Properties- Fifty feet (50') to the nearest point on the property line of the nonparticipating property

Public Road Rights-Of-Way-Fifty feet (50') from the nearest edge

The above setbacks do not exempt or excuse compliance with electric facility clearances approved or required by the National Electrical Code, the National Electrical Safety Code, Commerce Commission, Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, and their designees or successors. Per the site plan, see Appendix I, the commercial solar energy facility is greater than one hundred fifty feet (150') from the closest non-participating structure. The perimeter fence is setback fifty feet (50') from the adjoining property line and road, except where the farmed wetlands are located (in which cases the setbacks are larger). The panels are twenty feet (20') from the fences on the north, west, and east side of the property and thirty feet (30') from the fence to the south.

- c. A commercial solar energy facility's perimeter shall be enclosed by fencing having a height of at least six feet (6') and no more than twenty-five feet (25'). This is true. Per the site plan, see Appendix I, the fence seven feet (7') in height.
- d. No component of a solar panel as part of a commercial solar energy facility shall have a height of more than twenty feet (20') above ground when the solar energy facility's arrays are at full tilt. Petitioner indicated that this is correct, see Appendix B, Page 8.
- e. The above setback, fencing, and component height requirements may be waived subject to written consent of the owner of each affected nonparticipating property. This written consent shall be submitted at the time of application submittal. No such consent requested or needed.
- f. Sound limitations for components in commercial solar energy facilities shall follow the sound limitations established by the Illinois Pollution Control Board. Petitioner indicated that they will follow these limitations, see Appendix R regarding the noise study.
- g. The County shall not require standards for construction, decommissioning, or deconstruction of a commercial solar energy system or related financial assurances to be more restrictive than agricultural impact mitigation agreement set in State law. The amount of any decommissioning payment shall be limited to the cost identified in the

decommissioning or deconstruction plan, as required by the agricultural impact mitigation agreement, minus the salvage value of the project. A copy of the agricultural impact mitigation agreement shall be submitted with the application materials. The decommissioning plan is included as Attachment O. As noted on page 5 of Attachment O, the decommissioning bond is set at One Hundred Thirty-One Thousand, Seven Hundred Six-Nine Dollars and Twelve Cents (\$131,769.12). The payment of the bond is outlined in the Agricultural Impact Mitigation Agreement (AIMA) on page 11 of Appendix V.

- h. A vegetative screening shall be placed around the commercial solar energy facility. The landscaping plan was provided as Appendix J. An open area pollinator seed mix is purposed around the perimeter of the property. The performance standards and ground cover maintenance requirements were included in the landscaping plan.
- i. Commercial solar energy facility applicants shall provide the results and recommendations from consultations with the Illinois Department of Natural Resources obtained through the Ecological Compliance Assessment Tool (EcoCat) or a comparable successor tool. The commercial solar energy facility applicant shall adhere to the recommendations provided through this consultation. The EcoCat was submitted and consultation was terminated without any specific recommendations.
- j. Commercial solar energy facility applicants shall provide the results of the United States Fish and Wildlife Service's Information for Planning and Consulting environmental review or a comparable successor toll that is consistent with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service's Land-Based Wind Energy Guidelines and any applicable United States Fish and Wildlife Service solar wildlife guidelines that have been subject to public review. This was provided starting as Page 34 in Appendix L. The Indiana bat, tricolored bat, whooping crane, monarch butterfly, and eastern prairie fringed orchid were in the area. No impacts were anticipated.
- k. A facility owner shall demonstrate avoidance of protected lands as identified by the Illinois Department of Natural Resources and the Illinois Nature Preserve Commission or consider the recommendations of the Illinois Department of Natural Resources for setbacks from protected lands, including areas identified by the Illinois Nature Preserve Commission. This is true. The site is designed around the farmed wetlands.
- I. A facility owner shall provide evidence at the time of application submittal of consultation with the Illinois State Historic Preservation Office to assess potential impacts on State-registered historic sites under applicable State law. No potential impacts to State-registered historic sites exists, see Appendix M.
- m. A commercial solar energy facility owner shall plant, establish, and maintain for the life of the facility vegetative ground cover consistent with State law and the guidelines of the Illinois Department of Natural Resources' vegetative management plans. The vegetation management plan shall be required at the time of application submittal. The vegetation management plan is included as part of the landscaping, including timelines for planting and maintenance of the vegetation, see Appendix J.
- n. The facility owner shall enter into a road use agreement with the jurisdiction having control over the applicable roads. The road use agreement shall follow applicable law. The facility owner shall supply the Kendall County Planning, Building and Zoning Department with a copy of the road use agreement. This provision shall be waived if the jurisdiction having control over the applicable roads does not wish to enter into an agreement. As of the date of this memo, the road use agreement negotiations are ongoing. The transportation and access plan was provided as Appendix U.
- o. The facility owner shall repair or pay for the repair of all damage to the drainage system caused by the construction of the commercial solar energy system within a reasonable time after construction of the commercial solar energy facility is complete. The specific time shall be set in the special use permit. No information was provided regarding drain tile. A drain tile survey is required, per the AIMA.

No buildings are planned for the site. Any structures proposed for the site, including the solar arrays, shall obtain applicable permits.

The property is presently farmland. No wells, septic systems, or refuse collection points were identified.

The Petitioner submitted an application for a stormwater permit. Also, the Petitioner is designing the site per the Village of Plainfield's regulations.

The Petitioner provided groundwater studies, see Appendix S.

Per the site plan (Appendix I), the Petitioner's propose one (1) thirty foot (20') wide access road. Oswego Township has granted an access permit.

The Petitioner is agreeable to right-of-way dedication and the Petitioner submitted a transportation and access plan.

No parking is proposed.

No lighting was proposed.

Per Appendix B, Page 8, a warning sign will be placed at the facility entrance and along the perimeter fence. These signs shall include address of the subject property and a twenty-four (24) hour emergency contact phone number.

The Petitioner provided a glare study, see Appendix Q.

The Petitioner provided a property values study, Appendix T.

No odors were foreseen.

If approved, this would be the second special use permit for a commercial solar energy facility in unincorporated Kendall County.

The proposed Findings of Fact for the special use permit were as follows:

The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare. The Project will generate clean, renewable electricity while producing no air, noise, or water pollution, or ground contamination. The landscape buffer and existing vegetation around the site will be provided and preserved to screen the project from the view of neighbors and roads. The Petitioner proposes to use pollinator-friendly ground cover underneath the Project and native plantings around the perimeter. These include clover and grass species that promote the establishment and long-term health of bee populations. The Petitioner submitted a landscaping plan outlining the types of vegetation that will be planted, the timing of planting, and a maintenance plan for the vegetation. The Petitioner provided a report regarding the proposed landscaping plan and water quality. In addition, the proposal will promote the general welfare of Kendall County by supplying new jobs, new tax revenue and will be a source of generation of sustainable, clean, pollution-free renewable electricity.

The special use will not be substantially injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within the neighborhood. The Zoning classification of property within the general area of the property in question shall be considered in determining consistency with this standard. The proposed use makes adequate provisions for appropriate buffers, landscaping, fencing, lighting, building materials, open space and other improvements necessary to insure that the proposed use does not adversely impact adjacent uses and is compatible with the surrounding area and/or the County as a whole. The proposal will not interfere with the use and enjoyment of nearby properties. The surrounding properties are zoned primarily A-1 and will not be prevented from continuing any existing use or from pursuing future uses. The proposal's operations would be quiet and would utilizing pollinator friendly seeding, native plants, and vegetative screening. The landscape buffer will reduce any visual impact on neighbors who live nearby. The Petitioner provided a property value study showing no impact to the values of property near these types of projects.

Adequate utilities, access roads and points of ingress and egress, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being provided. The proposal will have adequate utility interconnections designed in collaboration with ComEd. The proposal does not require water, sewer, or any other public utility facilities to operate. The Petitioner will also build all roads and entrances at the facility and will enter into an agreement with Oswego Township regarding road use. After initial construction traffic, landscape maintenance and maintenance to the Project components are anticipated to occur on an asneeded basis, consistent with the Landscaping Plan. Existing traffic patterns will not be impacted in the post-construction operations phase. A drain tile survey will be completed prior to construction and foundation design will work around or reroute any identified drain tiles to ensure proper drainage. The Project will also be designed in a manner that will not materially modify existing water drainage patterns around its facilities.

The special use shall in all other respects conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the County Board pursuant to the recommendation of the Zoning Board of Appeals. If the requested variance is granted, the proposal meets all applicable regulations.

The special use is consistent with the purpose and objectives of the Land Resource Management Plan and other adopted County or municipal plans and policies. The proposal is also consistent with a goal and objective found on page 3-34 of the Land Resource Management Plan, "Support the public and private use of sustainable energy systems (examples include wind, solar, and geo-thermal)."

The proposed Findings of Fact for the variance were as follows:

The particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical condition of the specific property involved would result in a particular hardship or practical difficulty upon the owner if the strict letter of the regulations were carried out. The subject property is located within one point five (1.5) miles of the Village of Plainfield. The Village of Plainfield provided a letter stating they will enter into a pre-annexation agreement in the future.

The conditions upon which the requested variation is based would not be applicable, generally, to other property within the same zoning classification. Other A-1 zoned properties within one point five (1.5) miles of a municipality could request a similar variance, if the municipality refuses to annex or enter into a pre-annexation agreement.

The alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an interest in the property. The difficulty was created because the Village of Plainfield did not wish to enter into a pre-annexation agreement or annex the property in a timely manner before application submittal.

The granting of the variation will not materially be detrimental to the public welfare or substantially injurious to other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located. Granting the variance would not be detrimental to the public or substantially injurious to other properties.

That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to adjacent property, or substantially increase the congestion in the public streets or increase the danger of fire, or endanger the public safety or substantially diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood. The proposed variance would not impair light or air on adjacent property, cause congestion, increase the danger of fire, or negatively impact property values.

Staff recommended approval of the requested special use permit and variance subject to the following conditions and restrictions. To date, the Petitioner has not agreed to these conditions and restrictions:

- 1. The site shall be developed substantially in accordance with the submitted site plan (Appendix I), landscaping plan, (Appendix J), operations and management plan (Appendix N), decommissioning plan, (Appendix O), road access plan (Appendix U), and Agricultural Impact Mitigation Agreement (Appendix V).
- 2. Within ninety (90) days of the approval of the special use permit, the owners of the subject property shall dedicate a strip of land thirty-three feet (33') in depth along the southern property line to Oswego Township. The Kendall County Planning, Building and Zoning Committee may grant an extension to this deadline.
- 3. Within ninety (90) days of the approval of the special use permit, the owner of the subject property shall enter into a pre-annexation agreement with the Village of Plainfield. The Kendall County Planning, Building and Zoning Committee may grant an extension to this deadline.
- 4. None of the vehicles or equipment parked or stored on the subject property allowed by the special use permit shall be considered agricultural vehicles or agricultural equipment.
- 5. All of the vehicles and equipment stored on the subject property allowed by the special use permit shall be maintained in good condition with no deflated tires and shall be licensed if required by law.
- 6. Any structures, included solar arrays, constructed, installed, or used allowed by this special use permit shall not be considered for agricultural purposes and must secure applicable building permits.
- 7. One (1) warning sign shall be placed at the facility entrance and one (1) warning sign shall be placed along the perimeter fence. These signs shall include, at minimum, the address of the subject property and a twenty-four (24) hour emergency contact phone number. Additional signage may be installed, if required by applicable law.

- 8. The operators of the use allowed by this special use permit acknowledge and agree to follow Kendall County's Right to Farm Clause.
- 9. The property owner and operator of the use allowed by this special use permit shall follow all applicable Federal, State, and Local laws related to the operation of this type of use.
- 10. Failure to comply with one or more of the above conditions or restrictions could result in the amendment or revocation of the special use permit.
- 11. If one or more of the above conditions is declared invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining conditions shall remain valid.
- 12. This special use permit and variance shall be treated as a covenant running with the land and is binding on the successors, heirs, and assigns as to the same special use conducted on the property.

Mr. Klaas requested clarification on Plainfield's position on the annexation. Mr. Asselmeier said Plainfield did not want to process the application and the Village wanted the County to review the Petition. The Petitioner provided a letter from Plainfield regarding annexation. This would be a Chatham annexation because Plainfield was not contiguous.

Mr. Asselmeier asked if the property owner was agreeable to the conditions. Gloria Foxman said the property owner was aware and agreeable to some of the conditions. She offered to get written confirmation of the property owner's agreement to the conditions.

Mr. Asselmeier asked possibly upgrading the solar panels over the life of the project. Ms. Foxman said removal of the solar panels were not likely.

Mr. Klaas recommended a forty foot (40') right-of-way dedication. Ms. Foxman agreed to this change.

Ms. Olson asked about inspections for cracked panels. Ms. Foxman said the solar field would be monitored remotely and regular inspections would occur.

Mr. Asselmeier noted that some neighbors were concerned about property values, drainage, and influx of energy. Ms. Foxman said a drain tile survey would occur and that information was necessary when designing the project.

Mr. Guritz noted that herbicides would not be used per the vegetation management plan. Ms. Foxman said they were trying to follow the pollinator scorecard. They would follow noxious weed laws. Someone would be hired to maintain the vegetation.

Mr. Klaas asked if rock or stone would be beneath the panels. Ms. Foxman said the area would be planted with low growth pollinator friendly plants under the solar panels.

Construction would start in 2025, assuming all approvals occurred.

Ms. Olson asked about the length of the construction process. Ms. Foxman responded twelve to eighteen (12-18) months, but that timeframe is not solid construction.

Mr. Guritz made a motion, seconded by Mr. Holdiman, to forward the proposal to the Regional Planning Commission with a change to the right-of-way dedication amount.

The votes were follows:

Ayes (9): Asselmeier, Briganti, Guritz, Holdiman, Klaas, Langston, Olson, Rybski, and Wormley

Nays (0): None Abstain (0): None Absent (1): Chismark

The motion passed.

The proposal goes to the Kendall County Regional Planning Commission on May 22, 2024.

#### Petition 24-14 Tim O'Brien on Behalf of Seward Township

Mr. Asselmeier summarized the request.

In an effort to preserve the agricultural character of the Township and protect the Aux Sable Creek Watershed, Seward Township has proposed the attached new Future Land Use Map. The existing Future Land Use Map is also attached.

The proposed changes were as follows:

- 1. All of the land west Arbeiter and Hare Roads will be reclassified to Agricultural. The Commercial area at the intersection of Route 52 and Grove Road will be retained and the Commercial area at the intersection of Arbeiter Road and Route 52 will also be retained.
- The Seward Township Building on O'Brien Road, the church on Van Dyke Road, and lands owned by the Kendall County Forest Preserve District and Conservation Foundation west of Arbeiter and Hare Roads will be classified as Public/Institutional.
- 3. The residentially planned areas east of Arbeiter and Hare Roads will be reclassified to Rural Estate Residential.
- 4. The floodplain of the Aux Sable Creek was added to the map.
- 5. Text contained in the Land Resource Management Plan in conflict the above changes will be amended.

The Seward Township Planning Commission approved this proposal at their meeting on February 5, 2024. The Seward Township Board approved this proposal at their meeting on March 12, 2024. Seward Township held a community forum on the proposal on April 18, 2024. The Kendall County Comprehensive Land Plan and Ordinance Committee also reviewed the proposal at their meetings in February and April 2024.

A composite future land use map of the County and the municipalities' comprehensive plans is attached.

This proposal was sent to Plattville, Minooka, Shorewood, and Joliet on April 30, 2024. This proposal was sent to the Bristol-Kendall, Lisbon-Seward, Minooka, Troy, and Joliet Fire Departments on April 30<sup>th</sup>.

Mr. Asselmeier noted that he would add a disclaimer to text of the Seward Township portion of the Land Resource Management Plan noting that if conflicts arise between the text and the Future Land Use Map, the Future Land Use Map would take precedence.

Mr. Guritz stated that he attended the public meeting in Seward Township and felt that it was well attended and most people in attendance were in favor of the proposal. The addition of the floodplain gives the map a different perspective.

Mr. Guritz made a motion, seconded by Mr. Rybski, to recommend approval of the request.

The votes were follows:

Ayes (9): Asselmeier, Briganti, Guritz, Holdiman, Klaas, Langston, Olson, Rybski, and Wormley

Nays (0): None Abstain (0): None Absent (1): Chismark

The motion passed.

The proposal goes to the Kendall County Regional Planning Commission on May 22, 2024.

#### REVIEW OF PETITIONS THAT WENT TO COUNTY BOARD

Mr. Asselmeier reported that Petition 23-35 were approved by the County Board.

# **OLD BUSINESS/NEW BUSINESS**

None

## CORRESPONDENCE

None

# **PUBLIC COMMENT**

None

# **ADJOURNMENT**

Mr. Guritz made a motion, seconded by Mr. Rybski, to adjourn.

With a voice vote of nine (9) ayes, the motion carried.

The ZPAC, at 9:54 a.m., adjourned.

Respectfully Submitted, Matthew H. Asselmeier, AICP, CFM Director

Enc.



# KENDALL COUNTY ZONING & PLATTING ADVISORY COMMITTEE MAY 7, 2024

IF YOU WOULD LIKE TO BE CONTACTED ON FUTURE MEETINGS REGARDING THIS TOPIC, PLEASE PROVIDE YOUR ADDRESS OR EMAIL ADDRESS

NAME	ADDRESS (OPTIONAL)	EMAIL ADDRESS (OPTIONAL)
Tim Brien		
Petr Fleming		
Michael Korst		
Sim Filotto		
Ryan Solum		
BRICEMUER		
Alex Schuster		

#### **Matt Asselmeier**

From: Alec Keenum <akeenum@oswegofire.com>

**Sent:** Tuesday, May 7, 2024 6:00 AM

To: Matt Asselmeier

Subject: [External] RE: Kendall County Petition 24-10

CAUTION - This email originated from outside the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Thanks Matt,

Normal stuff, Oswego FD does not have issue with the Special Use. Shal be noted that:

- Default is sprinkler & fire alarm protection for new construction
- In general Converting residence to business use, as long as its "office" type use and not mercantile, would not trigger addition of sprinkler nor fire alarm

Regards,

Capt. Alec J Keenum
Fire Marshal
Oswego Fire Protection District

From: Matt Asselmeier < masselmeier@kendallcountyil.gov>

Sent: Wednesday, May 1, 2024 9:34 AM

To: Alec Keenum <akeenum@oswegofire.com>; Claude Ainsworth (cainsworth@oswegotownship.com) <cainsworth@oswegotownship.com>; Joe West (jwest@oswegotownship.com) <jwest@oswegotownship.com>; FireChief <firechief@oswegofire.com>; Ken Holmstrom <kholmstrom@oswegotownship.com>; Rod Zinner (rzenner@oswegoil.org) <rzenner@oswegoil.org) <rzenner@oswegoil.org

Subject: Kendall County Petition 24-10

To All:

The Kendall County ZPAC will meet on Tuesday, May 7<sup>th</sup>, at 9:00 a.m., in the County Boardroom, at 111 W. Fox Street, Yorkville, to consider the following Petition:

1. Petition 24 – 10 – Alex M. Schuster

Request: Special Use Permit for a Landscaping Business

PIN: 03-22-400-001

Location: 2142 Wooley Road, Oswego in Oswego Township

Purpose: Petitioner Would Like to Operate a Landscaping Business; Property is Zoned A-1

Petition information is attached.

The Petitioner can be reached at alex@illini-scapes.com.

If you have any questions, please let me know.

Thanks,

### **Matt Asselmeier**

From: Alec Keenum <akeenum@oswegofire.com>

**Sent:** Tuesday, May 7, 2024 7:06 AM

To: Matt Asselmeier

Subject: [External]RE: Kendall County Petition 24-13

CAUTION - This email originated from outside the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Thanks Matt,

Normal stuff, Oswego FD does not have issue with the Special Use. Shall be noted that:

Default is sprinkler & fire alarm protection for new construction of any buildings

Regards,

Capt. Alec J Keenum
Fire Marshal
Oswego Fire Protection District

From: Matt Asselmeier < masselmeier@kendallcountyil.gov>

Sent: Wednesday, May 1, 2024 12:57 PM

To: Alec Keenum <akeenum@oswegofire.com>; Claude Ainsworth (cainsworth@oswegotownship.com) <cainsworth@oswegotownship.com>; Joe West (jwest@oswegotownship.com) <jwest@oswegotownship.com>; FireChief <firechief@oswegofire.com>; Ken Holmstrom <kholmstrom@oswegotownship.com>; Jake Melrose <jmelrose@goplainfield.com>; jproulx@goplainfield.com; Michelle Gibas <mgibas@goplainfield.com> Subject: Kendall County Petition 24-13

#### To All:

The Kendall County ZPAC will meet on Tuesday, May  $7^{th}$ , at 9:00 a.m., in the County Boardroom, at 111 W. Fox Street, Yorkville, to consider the following Petition:

1. Petition 24 – 13 – James C. Marshall on Behalf of TurningPointEnergy, LLC Through TPE IL KE240

(Tenant) and Frank J. Santoro (Owner)

Request: Special Use Permit for a Commercial Solar Energy Facility and Variance to Section 7:01.D.17.a of the

Kendall County Zoning Ordinance to Allow a Commercial Solar Energy Facility on Land within One

Point Five (1.5) Miles of Municipality without an Annexation Agreement

PIN: 03-24-400-011

Location: East of 2025 Simons Road, Oswego in Oswego Township

Purpose: Petitioner Would Like to Install a Commercial Solar Energy Facility; Property is Zoned A-1

#### Petition information can be found here,

https://link.edgepilot.com/s/a050e014/hTaf91Apmk\_aTNW3neBF7w?u=https://www.kendallcountyil.gov/home/showpublisheddocument/30231

The Petitioner's contact can be reached here, gfoxman@tpoint-e.com.